STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

 ORIGINAL

Appeal from Darlington County

Honorable Roger E. Henderson, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

JOEY LATWAN GIBSON,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO 2016-001585

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

RECEIVED
OCT 26 2017
SC Court of Appeals

JOHN H. STROM
Appellate Defender

KATHRINE H. HUDGINS
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

The trial court erred by denying defense counsel's motion to suppress the results of Appellant's gunshot residue tests where law enforcement had no probable cause to arrest Appellant for murder at the time of the tests and where the trial court erred as a matter of law in concluding that Appellant "implicitly" consented to the search.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Darlington County Grand Jury indicted Appellant Joey Gibson for murder and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime. R. 465 – 468. On July 18, 2016, Appellant proceeded to trial before the Honorable Roger E. Henderson and a jury.

Jamie Scruggs and Nathan Scales represented Appellant, and Assistant Solicitors Kernard Redmond and Patti Parker represented the State. The jury found Appellant guilty as charged. R. 438, l. 16 – 439, l. 21. The trial court sentenced Appellant to a total of fifty-five years of imprisonment. R. 446, ll. 13-25.

ARGUMENT

The trial court erred by denying defense counsel's motion to suppress the results of Appellant's gunshot residue tests where law enforcement had no probable cause to arrest Appellant for murder at the time of the tests and where the trial court erred as a matter of law in concluding that Appellant freely consented to the search.

Relevant Facts

On August 19, 2014, at around 9:45 p.m. Darlington City Police Officer Jovan Cauthen was driving down North Main Street in Darlington when he received a dispatch alert notifying law enforcement that there had been a shooting on Kirvin Steet and that two black males had been seen running away from the incident towards South Main Street. R. 87, ll. 7-25; R. 98, ll. 18-25.

Cauthen responded to the dispatch and arrived at the 100 block of Kirvin Street about forty seconds later. *Id.* Officers Rodriguez and Milton responded shortly after Cauthen. R. 88, ll. 1-23. The officers found Gary Walker dead in the middle of Kirvin Street. *Id.* Cauthen and the others cordoned off the area. Cauthen also located four spent shell casings and marked them. R. 90, l. 4-25.

Witness Harry James spoke with Cauthen and told him that a black man with dreadlocks came out of Appellant's house and ran around the back of the house towards South Main Street after the shooting. James could not identify the man. R. 99, l. 6 – 103 l. 14. James did not testify at trial, but Shelton Ham, who dropped James off at his house just before the shooting did testify at trial. R. 260, l. 5 – 266, l. 14.

James and Ham's descriptions of the men running away from the shooting matched Quinton Gibson and Antonio Gregg. Gibson is Appellant's brother. Gregg is Appellant's cousin. *Id.* Gibson had shoulder length dreadlocks at the time of the incident. James only ever identified two men as being involved in the shooting. He did not see Appellant before or after the shooting. *Id.*

Officer Rodriguez spoke with Cecilia Green. Green lived across the street from Appellant's house. Green had a bullet come through her front window during the shooting. Rodriguez would testify at trial that Green told her she "did not see anything." R. 111, l. 6 – 112, l. 17. However, video from Rodriguez's body camera recorded that Green told Rodriguez that one of the two men seen running from the shooting lived with his mother on South Main Street. R. 124, l. 9 – 126, l. 25.

Rodriguez knocked on Appellant's door. Appellant answered wearing a purple shirt. R. 118, l. 6 – 119, l. 6. Appellant told Rodriguez that he heard three gun shots, looked out the house's front window and saw two black men running towards South Main Street. R. 114, l. 2-14. Appellant stated that he did not know Walker. *Id.* Petitioner's statements to police were consistent throughout their investigation.

Nevertheless, law enforcement settled on Appellant as the primary suspect early on in the investigation. Petitioner was arrested on the night of the shooting immediately after being interrogated by police at the station. R. 173, ll. 2-23.

While Gibson and Gregg were identified by multiple witnesses, only one independent witness placed Appellant outside of his house immediately after the shooting, Cecilia Green. R. 228, l. 10 – 242, l. 22. Even she initially told police that she only saw Appellant in his front yard before the shooting. However, Green would change her story by the time of Appellant's trial and testify that she saw Appellant running from his front yard to the back yard after the shooting. *Id.*

At trial, Green claimed that Appellant went around the left side of his house. *Id.* She further stated that Gibson and Gregg ran out around the right side of Appellant's house and kept running down the street. At the time of Petitioner's trial, Green had several serious pending charges with the Darlington County Solicitor's Office, including strong-armed robbery R. 243, ll. 8-25.

Quinton Gibson was arrested and charged with murder and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime in September, 2014 after samples collected from him tested positive for GSR. R. 324, l. 3 – 327, l. 23. When police placed him under arrest, they urged Gibson to find an alibi. *Id.* He spent fifteen months incarcerated. R. 314, l. 3 – 326, l. 10. Gibson eventually told law enforcement that Gregg could provide an alibi for him. *Id.*

Gibson also agreed to testify against his brother. His charges were dismissed the Monday before Appellant's trial and he was released from custody. At trial, Gibson would claim that he, Appellant, and Gregg were in the front yard of Appellant's house and Gregg had just walked away to make a phone call, when an unknown man approached and started talking to them. R. 299, l. 10 – 300, l. 17.

Gibson claimed that the man made him nervous, but that Appellant shook hands with the man. Gibson stated that he was about to leave when Gregg returned from his phone call and the two went into the backyard to work on a car they were restoring. *Id.* While working on the car, they heard eight to nine gunshots nearby. The two walked around the right side of the house and saw Walker lying dead in the street. R. 302, l. 13 – 306, l. 17. Gregg and Gibson panicked and ran to Gibson's mother's house. *Id.*

Gregg's testimony only partially corroborated Gibson's story. Critically, Gregg did not mention the suspicious man who made Gibson so nervous and talked with Appellant. Gregg also stated that – prior to the shooting – Appellant told them he was going inside the house when he and Gibson decided to work on the car. R. 255, l. 2 – 277, l. 6. Like Gibson, Gregg testified that they heard the shooting and went to investigate. When they saw Walker dead in the street, they panicked and ran. *Id.* Gregg was charged with obstruction of justice. R. 282, ll. 9-25.

At trial, the State's theory was that Appellant bought a gun from his cousin, either a 9 mm or a .380 according to the cousin who sold it. R. 172, l. 10 – 176, l. 5. This is the gun that Appellant shot earlier on the day of the incident. *Id.* Problematically, none of the State's witnesses testified Appellant was seen with a gun around the time of the shooting. This included Gibson and Gregg, who were with Appellant immediately before the shooting. Further, law enforcement executed multiple search warrants on Appellant's house and other properties, but never located a gun.

In addition to Gibson, Gregg, and Green, the State also called a jailhouse informant, Corey Rowell who testified that he was contacted by Investigator Flowers after the police learned that he was Appellant's cell-mate. R. 332, l. 5 – 336, l. 22. Rowell testified that Appellant spontaneously confessed to shooting to Walker and expressed remorse. *Id.* Appellant did not give Rowell a motive for the killing and Rowell's knowledge was limited to the bare facts of the case. According to Rowell, Appellant hid the gun under a doghouse in his backyard. A search of Appellant's backyard did not recover the gun. R. 334, l. 13 - 340, l. 4.

The State had SLED test the GSR kits collected from Appellant and Gibson. Former SLED GSR technician Whitney Berry testified that swabs of Appellant's hands tested positive for GSR. She did not test any of Appellant's clothing. R. 355, l. 7 – 357, l. 15. Gibson's swabs also tested positive for GSR although in smaller amounts than Appellant's swabs. R. 346, l. 3 – 351, l. 1. However, Gibson's clothes were tested and were found to have significant amounts of GSR on them. A GSR kit done on Gregg was not tested. *Id.*

Berry testified, over an objection from trial counsel, that the GSR test results indicated to her that Appellant had fired a gun within a few hours of the tests being administered. R. 355, l. 7 – 357, l. 15. Since Appellant's trial, Berry has resigned from SLED after a routine case audit uncovered serious inaccuracies and flaws in her reports. Andrew Knapp, *SLED's Flawed Evidence Tests in*

S.C. Shootings, including Walter Scott, may Disrupt Prosecutions, The Post and Courier, April 1, 2017, available at http://www.postandcourier.com/news/sled-s-flawed-evidence-tests-in-s-c-shootings-including/article_addbb05c-1093-11e7-9a44-cbbf7e7465d9.html.

Pre-Trial Motion to Suppress GSR Evidence

Defense counsel moved pre-trial to suppress the results of a warrantless GSR test the police administered on Appellant. The defense argued that the GSR test, requiring police to detain Appellant and swab the front and back of both of his hands, constituted a search under the Fourth Amendment and Art. I, § 10 of the South Carolina Constitution. Therefore, police should have sought a warrant. Furthermore, defense counsel argued that law enforcement lacked probable cause to search Appellant at the time of the test.

The State offered lead investigator Maureen Valazack as their first witness. Valazack testified that police were at the scene of the shooting within seconds of receiving the 911 call. R. 14, l. 15 – 16, l. 10. When Valazack arrived she was informed that officers had already spoken with Appellant. Appellant had told them that he was watching TV when he heard the gunshots. Valazack found it strange that all of the lights were off in Appellant's house. *Id.*

Valazack then walked on to Appellant's porch and knocked on the front door. Appellant answered the door and was wiping his hands with a washcloth. Valazack began interrogating him. Consistent with his prior statements to law enforcement, Appellant reiterated that he was watching TV when he heard gunshots very close to his house. R. 17, l. 8 – 18, l. 24.

Appellant told Valazack that he had turned off the house lights because he was afraid of getting shot. *Id.* Appellant stated that he did not know the victim. Valazack told him that the police were now on the scene and ordered him to turn his house lights on. *Id.*

At the pre-trial hearing, Valazack said that Appellant's behavior raised a kind inchoate "red flag" to her. For some reason, she found it odd that someone would turn off their lights immediately after hearing nearby gun shots. She also found is suspicious that he was drying his hands on a washcloth when he answered the door. *Id.* Valazack decided to make Appellant submit to a GSR test. *Id.*

When asked what other information she relied on when she ordered the GSR tests, Valazack repeatedly referenced witness interviews that she conducted **after** the GSR kit was administered to Appellant. For instance, Valazack stated that "some witness or witnesses placed [Appellant] outside in the front yard moments before the crime happened." R. 23, l. 14 – 25, l. 24. She identified Barbara Sparks, Quinton Gibson, Shone Smalls, Harry James, Ivory Stevenson, and Celia Green as witnesses that she relied on when ordering a GSR kit. *Id.*

On cross-examination, Valazack was then forced to admit that she did not meet with these witnesses until hours after ordering the GSR test on Appellant. *Id.* Gibson, Appellant's step-brother, was not taken into police custody and interrogated until midnight, several hours after the GSR test was administered. *Id.* Valazack conceded that she first spoke with Sparks and James the day after the shooting. Valazack further admitted that Ivory Stevenson was not at the crime scene. Valazack was also forced to admit that none of the witnesses interviewed prior to ordering the GSR kit saw Appellant hold a gun. R. 26, ll. 2-6.

Likely realizing that she had just inadvertently admitted to having not interviewed any witnesses until **after** she had Appellant submit to a GSR test, Valazack changed her story on redirect examination. For the first time, she now claimed that Officers Williams and Cauthen spoke with the witnesses prior to Appellant's GSR test and that the officers relayed the witness' accounts to her. Specifically, Valazack claimed that:

I was advised that there were three subjects standing in the road I was advised that there were three subjects standing in the roadway by one of the witnesses he was driving up to, in that area, who was coming up towards that house, that residence, actually on the other side of the road. But as he was approaching the residents he saw, as he described Petey, that they used to call Joey Gibson. I suppose they still do. He observed him and another subject and the victim.

R. 29, ll. 4-19.

Having now remembered that her information on witnesses' statements was second-hand, Valazack further altered her account of law enforcement's pre-GSR test investigation. Valazack averred that Stevenson, whom only she had said only minutes earlier was not at the crime scene on the night of the shooting, had actually been at the crime scene on the night of the shooting and spoken with police before they forced Appellant to take a GSR test. R. 30, ll. 2-14.

Under this second alternative factual account of the investigation, Valazack claimed that Stevenson informed police she had seen Appellant standing in his front yard with another "subject." Stevenson was driving her cousin, Cecilia Green, home after a funeral. Green lived across the street from Appellant. When Stevenson and Green reached Green's house, they chatted for a few minutes before Stevenson drove away. R. 30, ll. 2-14. After Stevenson drove about three blocks, she heard a gunshot. Stevenson would testify at trial that she did not talk to police on the night of the shooting. R. 255, l. 2 – 258, l. 24.

Valazack then identified Harry James and Cecilia Green as two other witnesses who spoke with police prior to Valazack ordering a GSR test on Appellant. As with Stevenson's involvement, Valazack again changed her recollection of the investigation on re-direct and claimed that she personally spoke with James and Green before ordering the GSR kit. *Id.* at ll. 15-25. Valazack did not elaborate on what James or Green told law enforcement.

After Valazack's inconsistent, contradictory testimony, the State called Investigator Toney Flowers. Flowers stated that he arrived at the incident scene about thirty minutes after the first law enforcement officers. R. 33, l. 4 – 35, l. 14. Flowers involvement in the investigation was limited to having Appellant submit to a GSR test at Valazack's behest. Flowers and another officer, Melton, approached Appellant who was sitting on his porch. *Id.*

Flowers told Appellant that they needed to take a GSR kit and that he needed to come with them to Flower's patrol car. *Id.* While Flowers testified that Appellant was not in custody, Appellant was not given a consent form and was not told that he could refuse the test. *Id.*; *see also* R. 40, l. 15 – 42, l. 21. Flowers and Melton escorted Appellant from his residence to Flower's car where the test was administered. R. 36, l. 13 – 39, l. 24. Flowers asked Appellant when was the last time Appellant had shot a gun, Appellant explained that he had fired a gun earlier that day at his cousin's house in a rural part of the Pee Dee. *Id.*

At Flowers' prompting, Appellant explained that he had not washed his hands since firing the gun and that he regularly worked with steel and scrap metal. *Id.*; R. 42, l. 8 – 45, l. 16. Flowers estimated the test lasted five minutes. Appellant was arrested after undergoing the GSR test and transported to the police station for interrogation. R. 79, ll. 2-23

At the close of the pre-trial hearing, the defense argued that the police had sufficient time to get a warrant for the GSR test. Defense counsel noted that law enforcement secured a warrant for and searched Appellant's house only two hours after the GSR test. R. 46, l. 5 – 48, l. 5.

The defense stated that Appellant did not affirmatively consent to the GSR test. Rather, Appellant merely acquiesced to a show of force by the police that would have left an ordinary man with the impression that he had no choice, but to consent to the search. Under those circumstances, Appellant's – at most – passive consent could not have been given freely and voluntarily. *Id.*

The State countered that GSR evidence rapidly disappears in relatively short amount of time after someone has fired a gun. *Id.* Therefore, administering the GSR test constituted a minimally invasive search justified by exigent circumstances and supported by probable cause. *Id.* In arguing that probable cause existed, the State noted that Valazack found it odd that the lights on Appellant's house were off and that Appellant was not standing outside. *Id.*

The State argued that Valazack's confused and contradictory testimony regarding the witnesses she or other police officers may have spoken to supported a finding of probable cause. Even in the absence of probable cause, the State posited that Appellant freely consented to the search by not actively resisting Investigator Flowers and Officer Melton's demands. *Id.*

The Court denied Appellant's motion to suppress. R. 55, l. 17 – 57, l. 14. The Court ruled that Appellant implicitly consented to the search under "the totality of the circumstances" and that law enforcement was not required to tell him that he could refuse the search. *Id.* Despite the State having the burden to prove Appellant knowingly consented to the search, the court noted that "[t]here's nothing to indicate to me that it was not consented to." *Id.*

The court also concluded that the police had probable cause to conduct the warrantless GSR search. The court found it strange that Appellant claimed to be watching TV at the time of the shooting and that Appellant turned off the lights in his house following the shooting. "If I understood the testimony correctly, the entire house was dark. It just doesn't make a lot of sense. So that raises the question with regards to law enforcement." R. 56, ll. 16-22.

The court further observed that some witnesses had, at some point during the police investigation, told law enforcement that Petitioner was in his front yard before the shooting. *Id.* In the trial court's opinion, these facts coupled with Petitioner drying his hands when he opened the door to law enforcement constituted probable cause to conduct the GSR test. *Id.*

Discussion

The Fourth Amendment to the U.S. Constitution protects “against unreasonable searches and seizures” unless “probable cause” exists and requires that evidence seized in violation of the Amendment be excluded from trial. U.S. Const. amend. IV; *see also* S.C. Const. art. I, § 10; *State v. Khingratsaiphon*, 352 S.C. 62, 69, 572 S.E.2d 456, 459 (2002) (*citing Mapp v. Ohio*, 367 U.S. 643, 81 S.Ct. 1684, 6 L.Ed.2d 1081 (1961)).

“No right is held more sacred, or is more carefully guarded by the common law, than the right of every individual to the possession and control of his own person, free from all restraint or interference of others, unless by clear and unquestionable authority of law.” *Union Pacific Ry. Co. v. Botsford*, 141 U.S. 250, 251, 11 S.Ct. 1000, 1001, 35 L.Ed. 734, 737 (1891). It has, however, long been recognized that not all personal encounters between policemen and citizens involve “seizures” of persons thereby bringing the Fourth Amendment into play. *State v. Foster*, 269 S.C. 373, 237 S.E.2d 589 (1977); *State v. Blassingame*, 338 S.C. 240, 525 S.E.2d 535 (Ct.App.1999).

“The purpose of the Fourth Amendment is not to eliminate all contact between the police and the citizenry, but ‘to prevent arbitrary and oppressive interference by enforcement officials with the privacy and personal security of individuals.’” *United States v. Mendenhall*, 446 U.S. 544, 553–54, 100 S.Ct. 1870, 1877, 64 L.Ed.2d 497, 509 (1980)(quoting *United States v. Martinez-Fuerte*, 428 U.S. 543, 554, 96 S.Ct. 3074, 3081–82, 49 L.Ed.2d 1116, 1126 (1976)).

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