**ORIGINAL**

**STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS**

---

**Appeal from Darlington County  
Honorable Roger E. Henderson, Circuit Court Judge**

---

**RECEIVED**  
**OCT 26 2017**  
**SC Court of Appeals**

**THE STATE,**

**Respondent,**

**v.**

**JOEY LATWAN GIBSON,**

**Appellant**

**Appellate Case No. 2016-001585.**

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

**ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General**

**DONALD J. ZELENKA  
Deputy Attorney General**

**MELODY J. BROWN  
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General**

**CAROLINE M. SCRANTOM  
Assistant Attorney General  
Office of the Attorney General  
P.O. Box 11549  
Columbia, South Carolina, 29211  
(803) 734-6305**

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

obtain a warrant, especially when police had already identified themselves prior to smelling the odor of marijuana).

In these instances, the exigent circumstances exception to the search warrant requirement applies, wherein “from an objective standard, a compelling need for official action and no time to secure a warrant exist.” *State v. Abdullah*, 357 S.C. at 351, 592 S.E.2d at 348. “Under the exigent circumstances exception, ‘[a] fairly perceived need to act on the spot may justify’” a warrantless search. *State v. Dobbins, Jr., supra* (quoting *State v. Herring*, 387 S.C. at 210, 692 S.E.2d at 494).

Law enforcement officers are under no constitutional duty to call a halt to criminal investigation the moment they have the minimum evidence to establish probable cause. Faulting the police for failing to apply for a search warrant at the earliest possible time after obtaining probable cause imposes a duty that is nowhere to be found in the Constitution.

*Kentucky v. King*, 563 U.S. at 467, 131 S.Ct. at 1860-61 (holding exigent circumstances exception applies when police do not create the exigency by engaging or threatening to engage in conduct violative of the Fourth Amendment) (internal quotation omitted).

- i. *Evidence in the record supports the finding of probable cause at the time the GSR kit was executed because the officer had reason to believe Appellant was involved in the shooting given Appellant’s relation to the environment to which the officer responded.*

For the exception to apply, there must also exist a showing of probable cause. *Id.* “Probable cause is defined as a good faith belief that a person is guilty of a crime when this belief rests upon such grounds as would induce an ordinarily prudent and cautious person, under the circumstances, to believe likewise.” *State v. Gamble*, 405 S.C. 409, 416, 747 S.E.2d 784, 787 (2013). “Whether probable cause exists depends upon the totality of the circumstances surrounding the information at the officer’s disposal” at the time of the warrantless act. *State v.*

*Baccus*, 367 S.C. 41, 49, 625 S.E.2d 216, 220 (2006).

Probable cause is evident from the record presented at the suppression hearing. Consider what was known by Officer Valazack at the time she ordered the GSR kit. Valazack learned from witnesses across the street that Appellant was outside in his front yard just moments before the shooting. At all times, Appellant was witnessed wearing the same color shirt he wore when he opened the door to Valazack. (R. p. 18, lines 13-18; *see also* R. p. 28, line 22 – p. 29, line 22). One witness who saw him drove just seconds down the road past him before she heard the gunshots. (R. p. 30, lines 2-14).

Before Valazack initiated conversation with Appellant, he was holed away in a darkened house, even though all the neighbors were outside watching the scene. (R. p. 17, lines 8-21). He did not want to come outside. (R. p. 17, lines 17-23). He said he had been inside watching TV when he heard the shots. (R. p. 19, lines 15-18). But bodycam footage exemplifies the close quarters in which the murder occurred. Appellant's own front door was just nine steps away from the edge of the road where the body lay. (Defense Exhibit 3, Track 2 at 15:00 to 15:06). The victim's feet pointed towards Appellant's front stoop. (*Id.*). The neighborhood witnesses did not identify anyone other than Appellant as being on the front porch or in the front yard immediately before or after the shooting (Quinton and Gregg were witnessed emerging from the side of the house, not the front where the victim's feet pointed).

Appellant was also handling a washcloth during his interactions with law enforcement. (R. p. 18, lines 7-8). This act alone does not naturally accompany Appellant's own alibi of watching TV. Moreover, it looked to Valazack as if Appellant was rubbing his hands on a washcloth after a shooting on a hot muggy night. (*See* R. p. 31, lines 4-9).

In totality, Valazack was presented with circumstances and information which would

lend to a reasonable, objective belief that Appellant was involved in the shooting. Appellant was more than merely present at the scene because there were conflicting accounts of his whereabouts preceding and succeeding the shots. Bearing in mind the aforementioned factors, it is reasonably difficult to believe that Appellant knew nothing about the victim or the shooting and was inside watching TV when he was the only person witnessed outside on the stoop moments before. Considering the conflicting accounts and adding to it an officer's on-site judgment regarding a suspect's body language, veracity, and other non-verbal communications, evidence exists in the record to support the court's finding of probable cause.

- ii. *Because GSR can only be reliably retrieved within a short window of time, swabbing a suspect's hands for the substance constitutes an exigent circumstance in this case because Appellant was witnessed acting in a manner which could destroy the evidence.*

In regards to swabbing a suspect's hands for GSR, the exigency exception need apply. As testified to by a Maryland detective in a similar case, "chemical residue on a suspect's hands degrades 'in a short amount of time,' and is easily destroyed or contaminated if the suspect perspires, washes or urinates on his hands, or rubs his hands on his clothing." *Jones v. State*, 213 Md. App. 483, 491, 74 A.3d 802, 806 (2013) ("Maryland State Police guidelines recommend that a sample be collected within three hours after the suspected discharge of the firearm"). The test itself only "consists of multiple small swabs that are rubbed on a suspect's hands and the webbing of the fingers to collect any chemical residue given off by a discharged firearm." *Id.* (finding GSR swab a reasonable warrantless search executed incident to a lawful arrest). The District Court of Maryland has held that a warrantless, pre-arrest GSR swab is appropriate if supported by probable cause "in light of the ready destructibility of the evidence sought." *United States v. Pettiford*, 295 F.Supp.2d 552, 560-61 (D. Md. 2003). In so holding, the federal court

noted that if the detective “had waited for a warrant before ordering the GSR test, he would have increased [the defendant’s] opportunity to destroy the evidence by simply washing his hands.”

*Id.*

In this case, Officer Valazack testified that SLED’s protocol for accepting GSR samples for testing requires the sample be taken within six hours of the event. (R. p. 19, line 24 – p. 20, line 5). This is because “it will come off of your hand.” (R. p. 20, lines 6-9). Valazack testified that the protocol is “to try to get [the test done] as soon as possible” after the event to prevent spoliation because “you can wipe it off.” (R. p. 20, lines, 6-13). If a swab is taken too long after the event, SLED will not even test the samples provided by the local law enforcement agency. (R. p. 20, lines 17-20).

Appellant’s initial encounters with law enforcement officers responding to the scene support the necessity of swabbing on-site and without a warrant. As noted by the trial court, he came to the door holding a blue washcloth, wiping his hands. (R. p. 18, lines 7-8). According to Valazack, when she saw the blue rag in Appellant’s hands on that humid, sweat-inducing night in August, she recognized a need to act in order to preserve any potential GSR. “[H]e had the towel in his hand and it just seemed strange that he kept rubbing it and in [Valazack’s mind,] if he was involved in this, then that potential evidence could be gone.” (R. p. 31, lines 4-9). Moreover, the execution of the GSR kit caused only minimal disturbance upon Appellant, who willingly complied with the request. (Defense Exhibit 3, Track 2 at 15:00 to 24:00). The test itself was not intrusive. Appellant only had to hold out his hands. (Defense Exhibit 3, Track 2 at 19:15 to 21:09). Then they were dabbed with the swabbing instruments by Officer Flowers. (*Id.*). From start to finish, the test itself lasted less than two minutes, taking approximately thirty seconds per palm to complete. (*Id.*).

Given Valazack's suppression hearing testimony, the court correctly found the exigency exception to apply. The need to preserve evidence outweighed the minimal intrusion upon Appellant that the GSR kit itself required, making the warrantless act objectively reasonable under the totality of the circumstances. *Kentucky v. King*, 563 U.S. at 467, 131 S.Ct. at 1860-61.

- C. Any error in the trial court's failure to suppress the introduction of the GSR kit results is harmless because bodycam footage corroborates the finding of probable cause, and because there otherwise exists overwhelming evidence of Appellant's guilt.

Admission of erroneously seized evidence may be harmless error. *State v. Herring*, 387 S.C. at 215, 692 S.E.2d at 497. The error will be deemed harmless where Appellant's "guilt has been conclusively proven by competent evidence such that no other rational conclusion can be reached." *State v. Gillian*, 373 S.C. 601, 610, 646 S.E.2d 872, 876 (2007). Where a court turns to a harmless error analysis after finding that evidence introduced at trial should have been suppressed, the harmless error determination rests upon the "materiality and prejudicial character of the error in relation to the entire case." *State v. Jenkins*, 412 S.C. 643, 651, 773 S.E.2d 906, 909 (2015). "Harmless error analyses are fact-intensive inquiries and are not governed by a definite set of rules." *Id.*

As an initial harmless error consideration, regardless of the strength of the *in limine* testimony in demonstrating probable cause, the accompanying bodycam footage corroborates and enhances the factors leading to the determination of probable cause in this case. The remainder of Melton's bodycam footage, a portion of which was shown during the suppression hearing, clearly shows Appellant holding a washcloth or rag through the duration of his contact with Melton and Valazack and up until Flowers escorted him to his vehicle to complete the GSR kit. (Defense Exhibit 3, Track 2 at 7:20 to 13:00). Appellant, who appears expressive with his

hands, waves the rag, and wraps the rag around and in his hands, and at times rubs his hands across the rag. (*Id.*). Another bodycam video introduced by the State at trial, that of Officer Rodriguez, additionally shows Appellant coming to the door of a darkened house with a rag in this hands. (State's Exhibit 37, Track 1 at 16:09 to 17:16; R. p. 115, line 24 – p. 117, line 10). These videos lend credence to the exigency.

The bodycam video additionally lends credence to the probable cause determination, showing Valazack's interaction with Appellant. Appellant told her from the outset that he had been "in the house" "all night" and he was "watching TV." (Defense Exhibit 3, Track 2 at 6:30 to 7:09). This statement alone directly contradicts the witness accounts known by Valazack at the time she ordered the GSR test. Valazack testified that when she ordered the GSR test, she had learned that witnesses saw Appellant in his yard before and after the shooting. Appellant was also wearing the color shirt that witnesses had identified. (R. p. 18, lines 13-18; *see also* R. p. 28, line 22 – p. 29, line 22). It was clear from the outset that Appellant was not "in the house" "all night" as he represented to Valazack.

Moreover, in regards to the irrefutable establishment of guilt, gunshot residue is not necessary or conclusive in establishing a defendant's guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. It is just one way to establish the involvement of the accused. Other evidence exists in the record which similarly establishes Appellant's guilt. Much of it required the jury to determine whose testimony was worthy of their assignment of credibility.

Appellant's own recorded statement was inconsistent with the witnesses who placed him in his front yard immediately before and after the shooting. One neighbor said Appellant was "just standing there" in the front yard after the shooting before he ran around to the back of the house. (R. p. 231, lines 12-22). But Appellant said he had been watching TV *for fifteen to twenty*

*minutes* when he heard the shots. (State's Exhibit 2 at 13:50 to 14:00). Then, Appellant said he waited a minute before he checked out what caused the gunfire. (State's Exhibit 2 at 22:00 to 23:00).

Not only did this testimony conflict with neighborhood witnesses, it also conflicted with that of Appellant's brother and cousin. Quinton Gibson and Antonio Gregg both testified that they left Appellant in the front of the house and went around the side yard to the back where they were working on a car at the time of the gunfire. (R. p. 276, line 12 – p. 277, line 20; R. p. 301, line 14 – p. 302, line 23). Quinton and Gregg were then identified as running away from the house from the backyard (necessarily exiting from the side of the house). (R. p. 230, line 21 – p. 231, line 2; R. p. 236, line 5). The clothing worn by Appellant also matched the neighborhood witness and Quinton Gibson's identification of the person in the dark blue or purple shirt. (State's Exhibit 2; R. p. 141, lines 17-18; R. p. 304, line 22 – p. 305, line 5).

Quinton's testimony additionally called into question Appellant's telling law enforcement that he did not know the victim. (*E.g.*, State's Exhibit 37, Track 1 at 16:10 to 17:16). Quinton recalled Appellant shaking hands with the person walking by the front of the house and speaking to him as if he knew him. (R. p. 299, lines 16-25). It put him on edge and caused him to leave the front yard. (R. p. 300, lines 9-25). Quinton also recalled running to the front of the house and, in a rapid memory, witnessing his brother wearing a purple shirt struggling to get into the front door even though the door was had no knob and appears from the testimony to have been chained from the inside. (R. p. 304, line 22 – p. 305, line 7). This detail about the lock comports with Appellant's statement wherein he spoke about how the locks on his grandmother's door were broken. (State's Exhibit 2 at 9:00 to 9:30). The broken lock also explains why Appellant

was seen running from the front of the house to the back, and was at home when law enforcement arrived—he couldn't get in the front door.<sup>4</sup>

The remainder of evidence demonstrates that the State presented a case-in-chief demanding a jury to return a verdict of Appellant's guilt beyond a reasonable doubt even absent the admission of the positive GSR test results. Appellant purchased a .9 millimeter pistol shortly before the murder, matching the caliber of the shell casings and a fired bullet recovered from the crime scene. (R. p. 171, line 21 – p. 172, line 23; R. p. 188, lines 8-20; R. p. 366, line 19 – p. 367, line 5). The shell casing found out in the country where Appellant and his brother both said Appellant had shot a gun earlier that day was a .9 millimeter as well. (R. p. 165, lines 1-8). Additionally, one of Appellant's cellmates testified that Appellant admitted that he shot the victim and felt bad about it. (R. p. 333, lines 8-22, R. p. 335, lines 2-5).

There can be no error warranting reversal where the totality of the evidence against Appellant is so complete that no other rational conclusion can be reached.

D. Because a GSR swab only requires the swiping of a magnet over the front and back of each hand, the warrantless act was akin to fingerprinting an individual and consequently was not a search necessitating any Fourth Amendment analysis.

The trial court explicitly refused to rule on the State's argument that the GSR swab was not a search. (R. p. 55, lines 17-21). However, the aforementioned application of two exceptions to the search warrant requirement is predicated upon a finding that the challenged action is indeed a search subject to the Fourth Amendment. As argued below and included herein as an

---

<sup>4</sup> This detail also makes it less plausible that in the time that Appellant waved at Ivory Stevenson as she drove by, then got up off his front stoop, walked around to the back of the house, and sat down and started watching TV, all in the short amount of time it took Stevenson to drive around to the parallel street where she heard the gunshot and saw sparks. (See R. p. 252, line 15 – p. 257, line 21).

additional sustaining ground, Respondent submits that swabbing a suspect's hands for GSR does not constitute a search for Fourth Amendment purposes because it does not involve any bodily intrusion. The swab does not affect an area wherein a defendant enjoys a reasonable expectation of privacy. (R. p. 50, lines 10-25).

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